SUPRE.	ME COURT NO	94033-9
IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE S	TATE OF WASHI	NGTON
STATE OF WASHIN	IGTON,	
Respondent,		
v.		
MICHAEL PIER	CE,	
Petitioner.		
ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM DIVISION TW		APPEALS,
Court of Appeals No. 4 Jefferson County No. 09		
PETITION FOR RE	EVIEW	
	CATHERINE I Attorney f	E. GLINSKI or Petitioner

GLINSKI LAW FIRM PLLC P.O. Box 761 Manchester, WA 98353 (360) 876-2736

A.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER		
В.	COURT OF APPEALS DECISION		
C.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 1		
D.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE		
E.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED 2		
2.	DISCONTINUATION OF PIERCE'S MEDICATION, WHICH RENDERED HIM INCOMPETENT AND VIOLATED HIS RIGHTS TO A FAIR TRIAL, DUE PROCESS, AND CONFRONTATION, INVOLVES A SIGNIFICANT QUESTION OF CONSTITUTIONAL LAW AND AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC IMPORTANCE. RAP 13.4(B)(3), (4). 2		
3.	THE COURT OF APPEALS'S HOLDING THAT ERRONEOUS ADMISSION OF PROPENSITY EVIDENCE DID NOT AFFECT THE OUTCOME OF THE TRIAL CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS OF THIS COURT. RAP 13.4(B)(1)		
4.	WHETHER A DEFENDANT IS ENTITLED TO AN INSTRUCTION REGARDING TESTIMONY OF JAILHOUSE INFORMANTS IS A SIGNIFICANT CONSTITUTIONAL QUESTION AND AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC IMPORTANCE. RAP 13.4(B)(3), (4),		

	CONCLUSION	~ ~	
Ħ	1 CINCLUSION	-71	ì
. .	COINCEONIOIN	~ \	,

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Washington Cases

<u>In re the Pers. Restraint of Brennan</u> , 117 Wn. App. 797, 72 P.3d 182 (2003)
<u>Shea v. City of Spokane</u> , 17 Wn. App. 236, 562 P.2d 264 (1977) <u>aff'd</u> , 90 Wn.2d 43, 578 P.2d 42 (1978)
State v. Babcock, 145 Wn. App. 157, 185 P.3d 1213 (2008)
State v. Bacotgarcia, 59 Wn. App. 815, 801 P.2d 993 (1990)
State v. Blackwell, 120 Wn.2d 822, 845 P.2d 1017 (1993)
State v. Cronin, 142 Wn.2d 568, 14 P.3d 752 (2000)
<u>State v. Davila</u> , 183 Wn. App. 154, 333 P.3d 459 (2014), <u>aff'd</u> , 357 P.3d 636, 644 (2015)
State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 278 P.3d 653 (2012)
State v. Hopson, 113 Wn.2d 273, 778 P.2d 1014 (1989)
State v. Koerber, 85 Wn. App. 1, 931 P.2d 904 (1996)
State v. Land, 121 Wn.2d 494, 851 P.2d 678 (1993)
State v. Lively, 130 Wn.2d 1, 921 P.2d 1035 (1996)
State v. Lough, 125 Wn.2d 847, 889 P.2d 487 (1995)
State v. Martinez, 121 Wn. App. 21, 86 P.3d 1210 (2004)
State v. Michielli, 132 Wn.2d 229, 937 P.2d 587 (1997)
State v. Miles, 73 Wn.2d 67, 436 P.2d 198 (1968)
State v. Moen, 150 Wn.2d 221, 76 P.3d 721 (2003)
<u>State v. Mutchler</u> , 53 Wn. App. 898, 771 P.2d 1168, <u>review denied</u> , 113 Wn.2d 1002 (1989)

State v. Prestegard, 108 Wn. App. 14, 28 P.3d 817 (2001)
State v. Salterelli, 98 Wn.2d 358, 655 P.2d 697 (1982)
State v. Terrovona, 105 Wn.2d 632, 716 P.2d 295 (1986)
State v. Wade, 98 Wn. App. 328, 989 P.2d 576 (1999)
State v. Weber, 99 Wn.2d 158, 659 P.2d 1102 (1983)
State v. Whitney, 96 Wn.2d 578, 637 P.2d 956 (1981)
Federal Cases
Banks v. Dretke, 540 U.S. 668, 124 S. Ct. 1256, 157 L.Ed.2d 1166 (2004)
<u>California v. Trombetta</u> , 467 U.S. 479, 104 S.Ct., 2528, 81 L.Ed.2d 413 (1984)
Estelle v. Gamble, 429 U.S. 97, 97 S.Ct. 285, 50 L.Ed.2d 251 (1976) 3
<u>In re Winship</u> , 397 U.S. 358, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970) 18
<u>On Lee v. United States</u> , 343 U.S. 747, 72 S. Ct. 967, 96 L.Ed.2d 1270 (1952)
<u>United States v. Luck</u> , 611 F.3d 183 (4th Cir. 2010)
Other Cases
<u>Dodd v. State</u> , 993 P.2d 778 (Okla. Crim.App. 2000)
<u>State v. Patterson</u> , 886 A.2d 777 (Conn. 2005)
Constitutional Provisions
U.S. Const. amend. VI
U.S. Const. amend. XIV
Wash. Const. art. I, § 22
Rules

CrR 8.3(b)
ER 401
ER 402 10
ER 403 10, 14
ER 404(b)
RAP 13.4(B)(1)
RAP 13.4(B)(3)
RAP 13.4(B)(4)
Treatises
1A K. O'Malley, J. Grenig, & W. Lee, Federal Jury Practice and Instructions, Criminal § 15.02 (5th ed.2000)
Other Authorities
Alexandra Natapoff, <u>Snitching: Criminal Informants and the Erosion of</u> American Justice, 77 (2009)

A. <u>IDENTITY OF PETITIONER</u>

Petitioner, MICHAEL PIERCE, by and through his attorney, CATHERINE E. GLINSKI, requests the relief designated in part B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Pierce seeks review of the December 6, 2016, unpublished decision of Division Two of the Court of Appeals affirming his convictions and sentence.

C. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

- 1. While Pierce was incarcerated during trial, his psychotropic medications were discontinued, due to a faulty medication policy and deliberate indifference of the jail's medical staff. Where arbitrary action and governmental misconduct prejudiced Pierce's rights to confrontation, due process, and a fair trial, should his motion to dismiss have been granted?
- 2. A jailhouse informant referred to Pierce's prior appeal in violation of a pretrial ruling. Where this serious trial irregularity was so inherently prejudicial that it rendered the court's attempted curative instruction ineffective, should the court have granted Pierce's motion for a mistrial?

- 3. Did the admission of evidence that Pierce committed a crime unrelated to the charged offenses allow the jury to convict him based on criminal propensity and deny him a fair trial?
- 4. Did the court's refusal of the proposed defense instruction cautioning the jury on the use of informant testimony deny Pierce the right to a fair trial by an adequately instructed jury?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A complete statement of the case, with citations to the lengthy record, is contained in the Brief of Appellant at 4-24 and incorporated herein by reference.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

1. WHETHER DISMISSAL IS REQUIRED DUE TO THE DISCONTINUATION OF PIERCE'S MEDICATION, WHICH RENDERED HIM INCOMPETENT AND VIOLATED HIS RIGHTS TO A FAIR TRIAL, DUE PROCESS, AND CONFRONTATION, INVOLVES A SIGNIFICANT QUESTION OF CONSTITUTIONAL LAW AND AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC IMPORTANCE. RAP 13.4(B)(3), (4).

The facts pertinent to this issue are set forth in the Brief of Appellant at 25-38 and are incorporated herein by reference.

The trial court may dismiss a criminal prosecution under CrR 8.3(b), which provides:

The court, in the furtherance of justice, after notice and hearing, may dismiss any criminal prosecution due to arbitrary action or

governmental misconduct when there has been prejudice to the rights of the accused which materially affect the accused's right to a fair trial. The court shall set forth its reasons in a written order.

CrR 8.3(b). A court's decision under CrR 8.3(b) is reviewed for abuse of discretion. State v. Michielli, 132 Wn.2d 229, 240, 937 P.2d 587 (1997). Government misconduct "need not be of an evil or dishonest nature; simple mismanagement is sufficient." Michielli, 132 Wn.2d at 239-40, (quoting State v. Blackwell, 120 Wn.2d 822, 831, 845 P.2d 1017 (1993)).

In this case, the arbitrary action or government misconduct took the form of failure to provide Pierce with adequate medical care while incarcerated. The State must provide prisoners with the medical care they need during their incarceration. Estelle v. Gamble, 429 U.S. 97, 103-05, 97 S.Ct. 285, 50 L.Ed.2d 251 (1976). The government in operating a jail has a duty not only to keep and produce the prisoner when required, but also to keep the prisoner in health and safety. Shea v. City of Spokane, 17 Wn. App. 236, 241, 562 P.2d 264 (1977) aff'd, 90 Wn.2d 43, 578 P.2d 42 (1978). "The duty to the prisoner arises because when one is arrested and imprisoned for the protection of the public, he is deprived of his liberty, as well as his ability to care for himself." Shea, 17 Wn. App. at 241-42. "An inmate must rely on prison authorities to treat his medical needs; if the authorities fail to do so, those needs will not be met." Estelle, 429 U.S. at 103.

Pierce was in jail and dependent on the State for medical care as a result of the prosecution of this case. Because he was deprived of his liberty and consequently his ability to care for himself, the government had the duty to provide his medical care. Shea, 17 Wn. App. at 242. This duty is so intertwined with the government's duty as custodian that the government cannot be relieved of liability for the negligent exercise of that duty by delegating it to an independent contractor. Id. (City of Spokane liable for negligent acts of physician contracted by jail to provide medical care for inmates). In this case, the government contracted with Conmed to fulfill this duty in Kitsap County, as well as other counties in Washington. Any attempt to separate the actions of Conmed employees from the State fails, because the State has a nondelegable duty to provide adequate medical care to inmates. The actions by Conmed are therefore imputed to the State, the prosecuting authority in this case.

Actions of those acting on behalf of the State are similarly imputed to the prosecution with regard to the duty to disclose exculpatory evidence. This duty is not limited to information known to the prosecution; the prosecutor's good or bad faith is unimportant. Instead, knowledge of others acting on behalf of the government is imputed to the prosecution. State v. Davila, 183 Wn. App. 154, 168-69, 333 P.3d 459 (2014), aff'd, 357 P.3d 636, 644 (2015) (Crime lab is arm of the State

whose knowledge is imputed to the prosecution); In re the Pers. Restraint of Brennan, 117 Wn. App. 797, 804, 72 P.3d 182 (2003). Disclosure is required of information in the government's possession, whether actual or constructive. Brennan, 117 Wn. App. at 804. The purpose of the rule is not to police the good faith of the prosecution but to ensure the fairness of the trial. Davila, 183 Wn. App. at 169.

Similarly, fairness to the defendant underlies the purpose of CrR 8.3(b). State v. Whitney, 96 Wn.2d 578, 637 P.2d 956 (1981); State v. Koerber, 85 Wn. App. 1, 5, 931 P.2d 904 (1996). Pierce's right to a fair trial was directly impacted by parties contracted by the State to fulfill its duty to provide medical care to inmates. The specific knowledge of the Jefferson County Prosecutor's Office of the action of those parties is irrelevant.

The government misconduct in this case consisted not only of Conmed employees violating proper procedure but also of a faulty policy which created an unacceptable risk that Pierce's medications would be arbitrarily discontinued. Conmed's policy requires medical staff to obtain a bridge order if medications are due to expire before the inmate sees a psychiatrist. If this procedure had been followed, there would not have been an erroneous discontinuation of Pierce's medications. But focusing

solely on the inexcusable conduct of Conmed employees in failing to follow the procedure ignores the flaw in the policy itself.

Conmed's policy allows medications to be bridged for a maximum of 14 days per order and requires staff to call for additional orders to prevent discontinuation of the medications. Thus, by operation of the policy, each bridge order has a stop date. Action is required by medical personnel to continue medications past that date—either the jail psychiatrist sees the inmate and orders the medication to continue, or a new bridge order is obtained. The problem with this policy is that, if medical staff fails to act, medications are automatically discontinued, even though discontinuation is medically harmful. The policy places the burden of staff error on the inmate. By contrast, under the ABA standard, medication is continued until a qualified professional orders discontinuation after individualized consideration. Thus, an inmate's medications will not be arbitrarily discontinued due to scheduling issues, miscommunications, or other staff errors. Conmed's policy is neither medically sound nor necessary. It constitutes arbitrary action, and its application in the medical care of inmates constitutes government misconduct.

The deliberate indifference to Pierce's medical needs also violated Pierce's right to due process. The State's conduct may be so inappropriate

that it violates due process. State v. Lively, 130 Wn.2d 1, 19, 921 P.2d 1035 (1996). State conduct violates due process when it is so shocking that it violates fundamental fairness. Id. In determining whether state misconduct violates due process, the court considers the totality of the circumstances. Each case is resolved on its own unique facts. Id. at 21. Thus, while there is no Washington case dealing with withholding psychotropic medications from a defendant incarcerated during trial, this Court can consider the serious physical impact on Pierce from the abrupt discontinuation of his medications, the fact that he was rendered incompetent to stand trial, the fact that the serious error resulted from a faulty policy and the deliberate indifference of the medical staff, and determine that under the totality of these circumstances Pierce was denied due process.

The second necessary element for dismissal under CrR 8.3(b) is prejudice affecting the defendant's right to a fair trial. Michielli, 132 Wn.2d at 241. "[D]ismissal under CrR 8.3(b) is an extraordinary remedy that is improper except in truly egregious cases of mismanagement or misconduct that materially prejudice the rights of the accused." State v. Martinez, 121 Wn. App. 21, 30, 86 P.3d 1210 (2004) (citing State v. Moen, 150 Wn.2d 221, 226, 76 P.3d 721 (2003)).

The trial court's ruling, affirmed by the Court of Appeals, that any prejudice to Pierce was cured by ordering a new trial ignores the seriousness of what actually happened here. This was an inmate, completely dependent on the State for necessary medical care who, through deliberate indifference or even negligence of the State's agents, together with a medically harmful policy which placed the burden of that indifference or negligence on the inmate, was rendered incompetent to assist his attorneys in his defense. The nature of the misconduct and the prejudicial impact on the trial which ended in mistrial were sufficient to warrant dismissal in this case. See Martinez, 121 Wn. App. at 32-35 (noting that defendant would not have received a fair trial if the exculpatory evidence had not been disclosed; fact that it was disclosed just before State rested did not diminish prejudicial effect of surprising defense; State's omission misled trial judge into making ruling regarding admissibility of evidence in first trial; late disclosure compromised defense counsel's ability to adequately prepare and defend). The Court of Appeals's holding to the contrary presents a significant constitutional question and an issue of substantial public importance which this Court should review. RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4).

2. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT'S REFUSAL TO DECLARE A MISTRIAL DEPRIVED PIERCE OF HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL

PRESENTS A SIGNIFICANT CONSTITUTIONAL QUESTION. RAP 13.4(B)(3).

The facts pertinent to this issue are set forth in the Brief of Appellant at 50-52 and are incorporated herein by reference.

The fundamental right to a fair trial is guaranteed by the United States and Washington Constitutions. U.S. Const. amends. VI and XIV; Wash. Const. art. I, § 22. The erroneous denial of a motion for mistrial violates that right. See State v. Weber, 99 Wn.2d 158, 165, 659 P.2d 1102 (1983) (proper question in determining whether trial irregularity such as an improper remark requires mistrial is whether the irregularity "prejudiced the jury, thereby denying the defendant his right to a fair trial.").

A trial court should grant a mistrial when a trial irregularity is so prejudicial that it deprives the defendant of a fair trial. State v. Babcock, 145 Wn. App. 157, 163, 185 P.3d 1213 (2008). In determining whether a trial irregularity warrants a mistrial, the court considers (1) the seriousness of the irregularity, (2) whether it involved cumulative evidence, and (3) whether the court properly instructed the jury to disregard it. State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 765, 278 P.3d 653 (2012) (citing State v. Hopson, 113 Wn.2d 273, 284, 778 P.2d 1014 (1989)). An appellate court reviews a

decision on a motion for mistrial for an abuse of discretion. Emery, 174 Wn,2d at 765.

In this case, the trial court had ruled in limine that references to the procedural history of the case were excluded, to mitigate any potential that the jury may learn this was a retrial, and it directed that all witnesses be instructed about this ruling. CP 668-71; 1RP 352, 3RP 1545-46. That Pierce had previously been tried and convicted and that his convictions were reversed on appeal were irrelevant to the issues before the jury and could only lead to confusion, speculation, and undue prejudice. Thus, such evidence was properly excluded. See ER 401, 402, 403. The parties and witnesses throughout the trial had been careful to refer to prior hearings, not specifying the nature of the prior proceedings. But the prosecutor's questioning of Reynolds opened the door to improper reference to Pierce's appeal, and Reynolds walked through as invited. This introduction of excluded, irrelevant, and prejudicial testimony was a serious trial irregularity. The fact that the irregularity did not involve cumulative evidence also weighs in favor of a mistrial.

The Court of Appeals concluded that the trial irregularity was not serious and that the trial court's instruction cured any prejudice from the improper testimony. It held that the court did not abuse its discretion in denying the mistrial. Opinion at 17-18. The record shows, however, that

great effort had been made to prevent the jury from learning the procedural posture of the case and specifically that this was a retrial following conviction and appeal. An obvious characteristic of this case was that it had been going on for a long time. The crimes had occurred five and a half years before the trial, and the jury heard numerous references to other hearings and statements in the interim. It had to be clear to the jury that many of the witnesses in this trial had testified before about the same matters. Several jurors reacted to Reynolds' reference to the appeal by immediately writing in their notebooks. It is very likely that reference to the appeal caused the jury to understand that the prior hearing referred to by so many witnesses was a prior trial resulting in conviction. The logical conclusion a lay person would draw from these circumstances and from Reynolds' reference to Pierce's appeal is that Pierce's convictions had been reversed on a technicality, necessitating a retrial.

"A trial in which irrelevant and inflammatory matter is introduced, which has a natural tendency to prejudice the jury against the accused, is not a fair trial." State v. Miles, 73 Wn.2d 67, 70, 436 P.2d 198 (1968). The Court of Appeals's failure to acknowledge the impact of the serious trial irregularity on Pierce's right to a fair trial should be reviewed by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

3. THE COURT OF APPEALS'S HOLDING THAT ERRONEOUS ADMISSION OF PROPENSITY EVIDENCE DID NOT AFFECT THE OUTCOME OF THE TRIAL CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS OF THIS COURT. RAP 13.4(B)(1).

Prior to trial the defense moved to exclude evidence that Pierce had stolen a pellet pistol from Henrey's Hardware on the evening of March 18, 2009. Pierce was never charged with that crime, and counsel argued that the only link between that offense and the charged crimes was the State's speculation that Pierce used a gun to force his way into the Yarr residence. Because there was no evidence of that, the theft was not part of the res gestae of the charged crimes. 1RP 159-63. The trial court ruled that the evidence was admissible as res gestae and to show preparation and plan for committing the charged acts and identity of Pierce and his clothing. It found that the State's theory that Pierce used the pellet pistol to commit the robbery was not unduly speculative, and it felt that evidence that Pierce had shoplifted was not significantly prejudicial. 1RP 270-71; CP 696, 752-56.

It is fundamental that a defendant should be tried based on evidence relevant to the crime charged, not convicted because the jury believes he is a bad person who has done wrong in the past. State v. Lough, 125 Wn.2d 847, 853, 889 P.2d 487 (1995). In light of this principle of fundamental fairness, ER 404(b) forbids evidence of other

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