## RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

NO. 94033-9

Feb 03, 2017, 11:38 am

### RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

### MICHAEL JOHN PIERCE,

Petitioner.

## ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II Court of Appeals No. 47011-0-II Jefferson County Superior Court No. 09-1-00058-7

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MICHAEL E. HAAS Jefferson County Prosecuting Attorney 1820 Jefferson St./P.O. Box 1220 Port Townsend, WA 98368 (360) 385-9180

JEREMY A. MORRIS
Special Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
519 Division Street, Suite C
Port Orchard, WA 98366
(360) 519-3500

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

#### V. ARGUMENT

A. THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW OF THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION BECAUSE PIERCE HAS FAILED TO SHOW THAT THE APPEALS' DECISION COURT OF INCONSISTENT WITH WASHINGTON LAW. AND HAS SIMILARLY FAILED TO SHOW **SIGNIFICANT** THAT THERE IS A CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUE OR AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST THAT WARRANTS REVIEW.

RAP 13.4(b) sets forth the considerations governing this Court's acceptance of review:

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision by the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of another division of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

This Court should decline to accept review because none of these considerations supports acceptance of review.

Specifically, for the reasons outlined below, Pierce has failed to show that the Court of Appeals' decision was inconsistent with Washington law and has similarly failed to show that there is a significant constitutional issue or an issue of substantial public interest that warrants review.

B. PIERCE'S CLAIM THAT THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING THE CRR 8.3 MOTION TO DISMISS IS WITHOUT MERIT BECAUSE THE TRIAL COURT ACTED WELL WITHIN ITS BROAD DISCRETION IN DECLINING TO IMPOSE THE EXTRAORDINARY REMEDY OF DISMISSAL.

The denial of a motion made under CrR 8.3 is reviewed for abuse of discretion and will be overturned only if the trial court's decision was manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds. *State v. Wilson*, 149 Wn.2d 1, 9, 65 P.3d 657 (2003). A decision is "manifestly unreasonable" if the court, despite applying the correct legal standard to the supported facts, adopts a view "that no reasonable person would take," and arrives at a decision "outside the range of acceptable choices." *State v. Rohrich*, 149 Wn.2d 647, 657, 71 P.3d 638 (2003), *quoting State v. Lewis*, 115 Wn.2d 294, 298–99, 797 P.2d 1141 (1990) and *State v. Rundquist*, 79 Wn. App. 786, 793, 905 P.2d 922 (1995).

In order to succeed on a CrR 8.3(b) motion, the defendant must prove both governmental misconduct and prejudice to his right to a fair trial by a preponderance of the evidence. *Rohrich*, 149 Wn.2d at 654. In addition, prevailing on a motion under CrR 8.3(b) requires a showing of actual prejudice; the mere possibility or speculation of prejudice will not suffice. *Rohrich*, 149 Wn.2d at 657–58; *State v. Norby*, 122 Wn.2d 258, 264, 858 P.2d 210 (1993). Similarly, Washington courts have explained

that dismissal of a case is an extraordinary remedy of last resort and the trial court's authority to dismiss under CrR 8.3(b) is limited to "truly egregious cases of mismanagement or misconduct." *State v. Koerber*, 85 Wn. App. 1, 4–5, 931 P.2d 904 (1996), *quoting State v. Duggins*, 68 Wn. App. 396, 401, 844 P.2d 441, aff'd, 121 Wn.2d 524, 852 P.2d 294 (1993). As dismissal is considered an extraordinary remedy, it will be granted only when there has been prejudice to the rights of the accused that materially affects his right to a fair trial "and cannot be remedied by granting a new trial." *State v. Quaale*, 177 Wn. App. 603, 619, 312 P.3d 726 (2013), *citing State v. Whitney*, 96 Wn.2d 578, 580, 637 P.2d 956 (1981), *quoting State v. Baker*, 78 Wn.2d 327, 332–33, 474 P.2d 254 (1970).

#### The Present Petition

In the present petition Pierce argues that the Court of Appeals erred in finding that the trial court did not err in denying Pierce's motion for dismissal.

As the Court of Appeals noted, Pierce was held in the Kitsap County jail during the course of his third trial in early 2014. The Court of Appeals further noted that,

Pierce, who suffered from schizophrenia, took prescribed psychotropic medication to alleviate his symptoms. At the time of Pierce's transfer, Kitsap County Jail contracted with Conmed, a private business, to provide medical care to inmates. Conmed's policy continued

prescribed psychotropic medications up to 14 days after a new inmate's arrival. If a continuation order would expire before a psychiatrist could see the new inmate, Conmed's policy required medical staff to obtain another continuation order. The continuation period for psychotropic medications was shorter than for other medications because Conmed wished to closely monitor and regularly reassess psychotropic medications.

Pursuant to its policy, Conmed continued Pierce's medication for 14 days from his intake. Conmed scheduled Pierce to see the jail psychiatrist on March 4, 2014, three days before the continuation would lapse. But Pierce was in court that day, and the psychiatrist did not meet with Pierce. Two days before the continuation would lapse, a nurse was asked to obtain another continuation order. She failed to do so. The day the continuation lapsed, another nurse gave Pierce his last dose of medication. That nurse failed to notice that the medication would lapse and did not obtain an extension. Pierce did not receive medication from March 8 to 10.

On March 10, Pierce sat through a full day of his third trial before the trial court was notified that Pierce had not received his medications. On March 21, the trial court conducted a competency hearing. Following the hearing, the trial court declared a mistrial based upon manifest necessity because Pierce had been rendered involuntarily absent by Conmed's failure to give Pierce his prescribed medication. The trial court concluded that Pierce's rights to "a fair trial, due process, and confrontation" had been violated. CP at 972. Nothing short of a new trial, in the trial court's view, would remedy the prejudice. Thus, Pierce's third trial ended in a mistrial.

Before Pierce's third trial, which lasted from February 24, 2014 until March 24, 2014, he had waived his right to a speedy trial through May 31, 2014. After the third trial ended in a mistrial, Pierce extended the waiver through October 31, 2014. Pierce did so because he sought to have additional time to prepare a motion to dismiss the charges against him with prejudice and because a new trial would not be necessary if his motion was successful.

State v. Pierce, COA No. 47011-0-II, at page 4-5 (attached to Petition for Review). The trial court ultimately denied Pierce's motion to dismiss and a fourth trial was subsequently held in October 2014.

As noted above, in order to succeed on a CrR 8.3(b) motion, the defendant must prove both governmental misconduct and prejudice to his right to a fair trial by a preponderance of the evidence. *Rohrich*, 149 Wn.2d at 654. Pierce argues he was prejudiced because the trial court was forced to declare a mistrial and the trial had to start over. Pierce, however, does not claim that he did not ultimately receive a fair trial. Pierce's claim, therefore, is inconsistent with Washington law on the subject.

CrR 8.3(b) specifically states that dismissal can only be granted when "there has been prejudice to the rights of the accused which materially affect the accused's right to a fair trial." Similarly, Washington courts have explained that a dismissal can only be granted when the misconduct "cannot be remedied by granting a new trial." *Quaale*, 177 Wn.App. at 619, *citing Whitney*, 96 Wash.2d at 580, *quoting Baker*, 78 Wn.2d at 332–33. Pierce's argument is essentially that anytime the State makes an error that causes a trial court to declare a mistrial or causes a reviewing court to overturn a conviction, there should be an automatic dismissal under CrR 8.3 because the Defendant has been prejudiced by the very fact that there has to be a new trial. This, however, is not the law.

Pierce also argues that dismissal was warranted pursuant to *State v. Martinez*, 121 Wn. App. 21, 86 P.3d 1210 (2004). *See* Petition for Review at 8. In *Martinez*, the victim was robbed at gunpoint in his home by two men who were later identified as the Calderas brothers. *Martinez*, 121 Wn. App at 24. The Calderas brothers stole money and a number of items and drove away in the victim's car, but they were arrested a short time later as the police were able to track the car by means of its "OnStar" feature. *Id.* The Calderas brothers told the police that the defendant was the "mastermind" behind the robbery and that he had planned and organized the robbery and had given them two handguns, a black one and a silver one, to use in the robbery. *Id* at 24. The guns themselves were confiscated from the Calderas brothers, and on the same day as the robbery an officer traced the serial number of one of the guns and found that its owner had reported it had been stolen 6 months earlier on October 31, 2000. *Id* at 25.

Approximately ten days later the police interviewed a woman who worked with the Defendant and she claimed that the Defendant had once tried to sell two handguns – one that was silver and one that was black. *Martinez*, 121 Wn.App at 25. This witness later attended a "gun lineup" where she picked out the silver and black guns recovered from the Calderas brothers as the ones the Defendant had showed her. *Id.* At a later pre-trial hearing this witness was firm in her belief that the Defendant

had showed her the guns around December of 1999. *Id.* This created a problem for the State, since the State was aware that one of the guns had not been stolen until October 31, 2000, and thus could not have been in the Defendant's possession in 1999. *Id* at 25. The State, however, never informed defense counsel that one of the guns had been stolen on October 31, 2000, and the defense was completely unaware of this critical fact until two weeks into trial on the same day the State rested its case. *Id* at 26-27. As the Court of appeals noted,

Incredibly, even after the revelation that the gun identified by [the coworker] could not have been the same gun used in the robbery, the State again tried to suggest a connection between them. During cross-examination of Mr. Martinez, [the prosecutor] referred to the two guns showed to [the coworker]:

Q Okay. Now you showed her a black gun and a silver gun, right?

A Correct, sir.

Q Noe Caldera says you gave them a black gun and a silver gun, correct?

A That's what he says, sir.

Q And he was—they were—the brothers were arrested with a black gun and a silver gun, correct?

A Yes, they were, sir.

Q Just a terrible coincidence; isn't it?

A For me it is, sir.

Martinez, 121 Wn.App. at 28.

Ultimately the jury was unable to reach a unanimous verdict and the trial court declared a mistrial. *Martinez*, 121 Wn. App. at 29. The

Defendant then brought a motion to dismiss, based in part upon CrR 8.3(b), the court granted the motion and dismissed on the basis of CrR 8.3(b), and the State appealed. *Martinez*, 121 Wn. App. at 29.

On appeal the Court of Appeals noted that the prosecutor's claim that he did not recognize the significance of the 2000 reported theft of the gun until the middle of trial was "ludicrous" and the evidence "suggests that the State withheld the information in the hope that the [coworker] would remember differently and remove the exculpatory effect of the report." *Martinez*, 121 Wn. App. at 232-33. The Court of Appeals also noted the State never mentioned the report regarding the 2000 theft of the gun at a crucial pretrial hearing and that the State's silence was "particularly troubling." *Id.* at 33. At that pretrial hearing the State had argued that the results of the gun lineup were "damning" when in reality the relevance of this testimony was severely limited by the fact that one of the guns could not have been in the Defendant's possession in 1999. *Id.* Recognizing this fact the trial court concluded,

[The prosecutor's] omission misled the trial judge into making a ruling that never questioned the materiality or relevancy of the gun identification.... In fact, the chrome gun could not have been the same gun used by the Calderas. Had the court known this, the evidence would have been inadmissible pursuant to Evidence Rule 402, which provides that evidence ... which is not relevant is not admissible.

*Martinez*, 121 Wn. App. at 33. The Court of Appeals found the trial court's conclusions in this regard were supported by the evidence. *Id*.

With respect to the appropriate remedy, the Court of Appeals noted that "Government conduct may be so outrageous that it exceeds the bounds of fundamental fairness, violates due process, and bars a subsequent prosecution." *Martinez*, 121 Wn. App. at 35. Furthermore, "The State prosecutor's withholding of exculpatory evidence until the middle of a criminal jury trial is likewise so repugnant to principles of fundamental fairness that it constitutes a violation of due process." *Id.* The Court of Appeals finally noted that the trial court decided that there was no appropriate lesser sanction than dismissal, and the Court of Appeals held that this ruling was not an abuse of discretion. *Id.* at 36. Rather the Court of Appeals stated, "We find the State's withholding of exculpatory evidence was misconduct so egregious that it violated principles of fundamental fairness, and affirm." *Id.* at 24.

The facts of the present case, however, are nothing like the egregious prosecutorial gamesmanship and dishonesty that were present in *Martinez*. While the prosecutor in *Martinez* committed egregious acts and omissions in order to benefit his chances at trial, the prosecutor in the present case had absolutely no control over the jail's administration of medications, nor did the prosecutor benefit in any way. To the contrary,

the mistrial caused the State to start the trial over with absolutely no discernable benefit to the State.

The Court of Appeals in the present case explained that,

Pierce does not argue how he was denied a fair trial at his fourth trial nor how he suffered any prejudice other than mere inconvenience, even though CrR 8.3(b) requires prejudice materially affecting Pierce's right to a fair trial. Having just prepared for the third trial, Pierce was fully prepared to litigate the fourth trial. Because Pierce neither explained why he needed additional time to prepare or how his right to a fair trial was prejudiced, the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it denied Pierce's motion to dismiss for failure to show prejudice.

We affirm the trial court's denial of Pierce's motion to dismiss with prejudice under CrR 8.3(b).

State v. Pierce, COA No. 47011-0-II, at page 13 (attached to Petition for Review). As the Court of Appeals holding is entirely consistent with well settled Washington law, Pierce has failed to show why review is warranted.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Pierce also briefly argues that dismissal was warranted on due process grounds. Petition for Review at 6-7. The Court of Appeals, however, found that the State actions here were "not the 'outrageous' or 'shocking' conduct that would justify dismissal. Unlike *Martinez*, there were no intentional acts by the prosecutor to withhold or hide evidence. Accordingly, we reject Pierce's argument that due process mandates dismissal of the charges against him." *State v. Pierce*, COA No. 47011-0-II, at page 14 (attached to Petition for Review). Again, Pierce has failed to show that this holding was inconsistent with Washington law or otherwise warrants review.

C. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE DISCRETION IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR A MISTRIAL **BASED** WITNESS'S BRIEF MENTION OF THE WORD "APPEAL" BECAUSE THE BRIEF COMMENT WAS NOT THE SORT OF IRREGULARITY THAT WAS SO SEVERE THAT NOTHING SHORT OF A NEW TRIAL COULD **ENSURE** THE DEFENDANT WOULD RECEIVE A FAIR TRIAL.

Pierce next argues that the Court of Appeals erred in rejecting his claim that the trial court erred in denying his motion for a mistrial that was based on the fact that a witness briefly testified that Pierce had talked with him about his "appeal." Petition for Review at 8-9.

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